

Research Briefing

6 October 2022

By Robert Long

Independent Schools (England)

Summary

- 1 Independent schools: overview and registration
- 2 Independent School Standards
- 3 Curriculum requirements
- 4 Inspection
- 5 Charitable status
- 6 Special Educational Needs and Disability; and EHC plans
- 7 Complaints

Image Credits

Attributed to: Official Opening of St Paul's Catholic School in Leicester by Catholic Church England. Licensed under CC BY 2.0 / image cropped.

Disclaimer

The Commons Library does not intend the information in our research publications and briefings to address the specific circumstances of any particular individual. We have published it to support the work of MPs. You should not rely upon it as legal or professional advice, or as a substitute for it. We do not accept any liability whatsoever for any errors, omissions or misstatements contained herein. You should consult a suitably qualified professional if you require specific advice or information. Read our briefing <u>'Legal help: where to go and how to pay</u>' for further information about sources of legal advice and help. This information is provided subject to the conditions of the Open Parliament Licence.

Sources and subscriptions for MPs and staff

We try to use sources in our research that everyone can access, but sometimes only information that exists behind a paywall or via a subscription is available. We provide access to many online subscriptions to MPs and parliamentary staff, please contact <u>hoclibraryonline@parliament.uk</u> or visit <u>commonslibrary.parliament.uk/resources</u> for more information.

Feedback

Every effort is made to ensure that the information contained in these publicly available briefings is correct at the time of publication. Readers should be aware however that briefings are not necessarily updated to reflect subsequent changes.

If you have any comments on our briefings please email papers@parliament.uk. Please note that authors are not always able to engage in discussions with members of the public who express opinions about the content of our research, although we will carefully consider and correct any factual errors.

You can read our feedback and complaints policy and our editorial policy at <u>commonslibrary.parliament.uk</u>. If you have general questions about the work of the House of Commons email <u>hcenquiries@parliament.uk</u>.

Contents

Summary		4
1	Independent schools: overview and registration	5
1.1	What is an independent school?	5
1.2	Are academies independent schools?	6
1.3	Registration	6
2	Independent School Standards	7
2.1	Guidance	7
3	Curriculum requirements	8
3.1	Overview	8
3.2	Spiritual, moral, social and cultural awareness	8
3.3	Relationships and Sex Education	9
4	Inspection	11
5	Charitable status	12
5.1	Debate and proposed reform	12
6	Special Educational Needs and Disability; and EHC plans	14
7	Complaints	17

Summary

Around 6% of pupils in England attend schools that are not funded by the state. $^{\scriptscriptstyle 1}$

The term 'independent school' in legislation includes academies, which are state-funded, but more commonly the term is used to refer to schools that do not receive state financing, but are instead principally funded through the fees paid by pupils.

This briefing is concerned with **fee-charging** independent schools.

Independent schools are not subject to many of the requirements placed on state-funded schools, and in particular those placed on local authority maintained schools. Their freedoms include greater autonomy relating to the curriculum, in hiring teachers, and in their admissions policies.

These schools are, however, required to register with the state and are subject to the independent school regulations that prescribe certain aspects of their operation. Independent schools are subject to inspection, by Ofsted or the Independent Schools Inspectorate.

Independent schools are also, as educational institutions, able to take charitable status, which has associated advantages including relief from business rates. The Government states that around half of independent schools have this status. This is a politically contentious issue, with proposals in recent years from both Labour and the Conservatives seeking respectively to remove independent schools' ability to take charitable status, or place conditions on their ability to do so.

This briefing provides a broad overview of issues relevant to independent schools that are frequently encountered by Members of Parliament in their work. It does not attempt to cover all issues relevant to independent schools.

¹ Figures provided by the Independent Schools Council

1

Independent schools: overview and registration

1.1 What is an independent school?

Section 463 of the <u>Education Act 1996</u>, as amended, defines an independent school:

(1) In this Act "independent school" means any school at which full-time education is provided for—

(a) five or more pupils of compulsory school age, or

(b) at least one pupil of that age for whom an EHC plan is maintained or for whom a statement is maintained under section 324, or who is looked after by a local authority (within the meaning of section 22 of the Children Act 1989 [or section 74 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014]),

and which is not a school maintained by a local authority nonmaintained special school.

(2) For the purposes of subsection (1) (a) and (b) it is immaterial if full-time education is also provided at the school for pupils under or over compulsory school age.

This briefing is concerned with **fee-charging** independent schools.

Independent schools, as they will be discussed for the purposes of this briefing, are not funded by the Government, and are often referred to as private schools. They charge fees to attend in the absence of state funding.

All independent schools must be registered with the government and are inspected regularly.

Independent schools are exempt from many of the restrictions on local authority schools – for instance they do not have to follow national admissions policies (and many select by academic ability, as well as parental ability to pay fees), hire qualified teachers, or teach the National Curriculum.

1.2 Are academies independent schools?

Yes. Section 1A of the Academies Act 2010 provides that, alongside other criteria, academies (including free schools) are independent schools with which the Secretary of State has entered into an academy agreement.

Academies, however, cannot charge fees, and so are outside of the scope of this briefing.

The Library briefing <u>FAQs: Academies and Free Schools</u>, CBP 07059, provides information on academies.

1.3 Registration

Part 4, Chapter 1 of the <u>Education and Skills Act 2008</u> requires that independent schools in England must be registered with the Secretary of State for Education. It is an offence to operate an unregistered independent school. Regulations under section 94 of the 2008 Act set out the relevant standards it is necessary to satisfy for an independent school to register.

Department for Education advice on the <u>Registration of independent schools</u> provides more information. In particular, on the registration process, it states:

The Secretary of State must decide whether the [independent school standards] ISS are likely to be met before a school can be registered (and the EYFS, so far as they are applicable). Once a completed application for registration has been received, the Secretary of State must notify Ofsted of it and Ofsted must then inspect the institution and make a report to the Secretary of State on the extent to which the school is likely to meet the ISS (and the EYFS, where applicable) upon registration. The inspector will have copies of the documents, which accompanied the application and will examine these as well as looking at the proposed premises and discussing with the school's proposers their plans for operating the school.

The Secretary of State will consider the report from Ofsted and any other relevant evidence, which is available in coming to a decision. **The decision on whether to register the school lies with the Secretary of State.** If the Secretary of State decides that the standards are likely to be met once the institution becomes registered as an independent school then it must be registered as such.²

The registration process is expected to take approximately six months.

² Department for Education, <u>Registration of independent schools</u>, August 2019, p12

Independent School Standards

The standards independent schools in England must meet are set out in the Education (Independent School Standards) Regulations 2014, as amended.

The standards cover:

- Quality of education provided
- Spiritual, moral, social and cultural development of pupils
- Welfare, health and safety of pupils
- Suitability of staff, supply staff and proprietors
- Premises of and accommodation at schools
- Provision of information
- Manner in which complaints are handled
- Quality of leadership in and management of schools

Part C of the Department for Education advice on the <u>Registration of</u> independent schools provides more details on the standards.

2.1 Guidance

2

Following a <u>consultation</u> in 2018, the DfE published <u>non-statutory guidance</u> for schools on the Independent School Standards in April 2019.

Inspectors take this guidance into account when reporting on the extent to which independent schools are meeting, or are likely to meet, the standards.

The DfE also publishes wider information on the <u>regulation of independent</u> <u>schools</u>.

3 Curriculum requirements

3.1 Overview

Independent schools are not required to teach the National Curriculum. Nonetheless, they are required to have a comprehensive curriculum in place for full-time teaching, appropriate to the ages of the children being taught.

The Department for Education guidance on the <u>independent school standards</u> provides detail, including the central requirement that:

[the] school has a curriculum which covers a broad range of subject disciplines, delivered through teaching that will enable all pupils to make good progress according to their abilities, and that such progress is properly assessed as part of a continuous process which feeds back into lessons.³

3.2 Spiritual, moral, social and cultural awareness

Independent schools are also expected to ensure that they plan and provide effectively in order to develop pupils' spiritual, moral, social and cultural awareness.

Regulation 5 of the <u>Education (Independent School Standards)</u> Regulations 2014 sets out that:

The standard about the spiritual, moral, social and cultural development of pupils at the school is met if the proprietor—

(a) actively promotes the fundamental British values of democracy, the rule of law, individual liberty, and mutual respect and tolerance of those with different faiths and beliefs;

(b) ensures that principles are actively promoted which-

(i) enable pupils to develop their self-knowledge, self-esteem and selfconfidence;

(ii) enable pupils to distinguish right from wrong and to respect the civil and criminal law of England;

³ Department for Education, <u>The Independent School Standards</u>, April 2019, p5-6

(iii) encourage pupils to accept responsibility for their behaviour, show initiative and understand how they can contribute positively to the lives of those living and working in the locality in which the school is situated and to society more widely;

(iv) enable pupils to acquire a broad general knowledge of and respect for public institutions and services in England;

(v) further tolerance and harmony between different cultural traditions by enabling pupils to acquire an appreciation of and respect for their own and other cultures;

(vi) encourage respect for other people, paying particular regard to the protected characteristics set out in the 2010 Act; and

(vii) encourage respect for democracy and support for participation in the democratic process, including respect for the basis on which the law is made and applied in England;

(c) precludes the promotion of partisan political views in the teaching of any subject in the school; and

(d) takes such steps as are reasonably practicable to ensure that where political issues are brought to the attention of pupils—

(i) while they are in attendance at the school,

(ii) while they are taking part in extra-curricular activities which are provided or organised by or on behalf of the school, or

(iii) in the promotion at the school, including through the distribution of promotional material, of extra-curricular activities taking place at the school or elsewhere they are offered a balanced presentation of opposing views.

3.3

Relationships and Sex Education

Section 34 of the <u>Children and Social Work Act 2017</u> requires relationships and sex education to be taught in all schools – including independent schools – in England.

The associated requirements came into force on 1 September 2020. Since then:

- All primary schools in England teach relationships education
- All secondary schools teach relationships and sex education
- Reformed statutory guidance for schools is in place, following consultation
- The right of parents to withdraw their children from sex education has been retained. Children approaching age 16 have new rights to 'opt-in'

• Schools can remain flexible in their approach. This includes faith schools being allowed to teach within the tenets of their faith

Statutory guidance

Statutory guidance on the reformed <u>Relationships Education</u>, <u>Relationships</u> and <u>Sex Education (RSE)</u> and <u>Health Education</u> was published in June 2019.

The Library briefing <u>Relationships and Sex Education in Schools (England)</u>, SN 6103, provides broader information.

4 Inspection

Many independent schools in England are <u>inspected by Ofsted</u>. The schools Ofsted inspects are known as 'non-association schools'. Inspections are carried out at the request of the Department for Education.

The <u>Independent Schools Inspectorate</u> is the body responsible for the inspection of schools in membership of the Associations that make up the Independent Schools Council. The ISI's website provides information on <u>how</u> its inspections work.

Ofsted monitors the work of the independent inspectorate on behalf of the Department for Education to ensure the quality and consistency of its inspections and reports.

The <u>School Inspection Service</u> previously inspected some independent schools, but ceased operations in 2019.

5 Charitable status

The <u>Charities Act 2011</u> (a consolidation act) defines a charity as an institution which is established for a charitable purpose and provides benefit to the public. The advancement of education is a charitable purpose and so independent schools are capable of being charities. There is no longer a presumption that any type of charity is for the public benefit. Educational charities, like all other charities, must demonstrate that they are for the public benefit. There is no statutory definition of this.

The Government estimates that around half of the schools in the independent sector have charitable status.⁴ The 2022 Annual School Census by the Independent Schools Council found that 70% of their member schools (of 1,351 survey respondents) had charitable status.⁵

The Library briefing <u>Charitable status and independent schools</u> provides more detail.

5.1 Debate and proposed reform

Independent schools' ability to take charitable status, with its associated advantages including relief from business rates, is a contentious issue.

'Schools that work for everyone' consultation

A Department for Education consultation, <u>Schools that work for everyone</u>, published in September 2016, set out that the Government was considering placing new duties on independent schools, such as requirements to support existing state schools, open new state schools or offer funded places to children whose families cannot afford to pay fees.

The consultation document indicated that the Government was considering legislation to exclude independent schools not meeting the relevant criteria from charitable status:

14. We propose to set new benchmarks that independent schools are expected to meet, in line with their size and capacity. We think it is essential that independent schools deliver these new benchmarks. If they do not, we will consider legislation to ensure that those independent schools that do not observe these new benchmarks cannot enjoy the benefits associated with charitable status, and to result in the Charity Commission revising its formal

⁴ <u>PQ HL279, 27 May 2022</u>

⁵ Independent School Council Census 2022, May 2022, p7

guidance to independent schools on how to meet the public benefit test, putting the new benchmarks on to a statutory footing. (page 16)

The <u>consultation response</u> was published in May 2018. It included no proposals to place restrictions on the charitable ability of independent schools to take charitable status.

However, a <u>Joint understanding between the DfE and Independent Schools</u> <u>Council (ISC)</u> was published alongside the response, including a statement that independent schools would be encouraged to support social mobility:

> ISC schools will be encouraged to target bursary support at those on the lowest incomes as well as looked after children, to increase opportunities for these children and to support social mobility. The new Boarding Schools Partnerships Service will also see pupils from troubled homes going to ISC boarding schools next year.

Conservative Policy

The <u>Conservative Manifesto</u> for the 2017 General Election set out that the Government would work with the Independent Schools Council to ensure that "at least 100 leading independent schools become involved in academy sponsorship or the founding of free schools," with the option of changing the tax status of independent schools retained for consideration if progress was not made.⁶

Labour Policy

The <u>Labour Manifesto</u> for the 2017 General Election included plans to fund free school meals for all primary school children, to be paid for by removing the VAT exemption on private school fees.⁷ The <u>2019 Labour Manifesto</u> said that Labour would "close the tax loopholes enjoyed by elite private schools and use that money to improve the lives of all children."⁸

At Labour Party Conference in September 2022, the shadow Education Secretary, Bridget Phillipson, said that a Labour Government would "end the tax breaks private schools enjoy" and use the funding to support school improvement.⁹

⁶ <u>Conservative and Unionist Party Manifesto 2017, p50</u>

⁷ Labour Party Manifesto 2017, p38

Labour Party Manifesto 2019, Rebuild our Public Services

⁹ Labour Party, <u>Bridget Phillipson conference speech</u>, 28 September 2022

Special Educational Needs and Disability; and EHC plans

Overview

6

Local authorities are required to ensure that children in their area with special educational needs (SEN) receive the support they need.

The <u>Children and Families Act 2014</u> provided for an overhaul of the system for identifying children and young people in England aged 0-25 with special educational needs (SEN), assessing their needs and making provision for them. The reforms to the system of support began to be implemented in September 2014, in a phased introduction planned to be completed in April 2018.

The type of support that children and young people with SEN receive may vary widely, as the types of SEN that they may have are very different. However, two broad levels of support are in place: SEN support, and Education, Health and Care Plans.

- **SEN support** support given to a child or young person in their preschool, school or college. In schools, it replaces the previously existing 'School Action' and 'School Action Plus' systems. For children of compulsory school age the type of support provided might include extra help from a teacher, help communicating with other children, or support with physical or personal care difficulties.
- Education, Health and Care Plans for children and young people aged up to 25 who need more support than is available through SEN support. They aim to provide more substantial help for children and young people through a unified approach that reaches across education, health care, and social care needs.

The Library briefing <u>Special Educational Needs: support in England</u> provides more detailed information on the system that is in place.

A separate briefing provides information on the <u>Special Educational Needs</u> and <u>Disabilities and Alternative Provision Green Paper</u> published in March 2022.

Support in independent schools

Generally speaking, the parents of children with SEN are responsible for funding their children's education if they choose to send them to fee-paying schools. Parents may request a particular school is 'named' for their child to attend as part of an Education, Health and Care Plan. Local authorities must agree that request unless the school is unsuitable, or the attendance of the child or young person there would be incompatible with the efficient education of others, or the efficient use of resources. This conditional duty to name the school does not, however, extend to mainstream fee-paying schools.

Parents may nonetheless request that an independent school is named in their child's EHC plan. The local authority must consider their request, but they are not under any obligation to name that school, and have duties relating to reasonable public expenditure. ¹⁰ Typically, an independent school will only be named in a child's EHC plan if there is no suitable state provision to support their particular needs. If a local authority does name an independent school in a child's EHC plan it must also meet the costs of the fees, including any boarding and lodging where relevant.¹¹

Parents may appeal to the SEND Tribunal if they are unhappy with the school or other institution or type of school or other institution specified in an EHC plan. Chapter 11 of the Code of Practice provides information.¹² Information and contact details are also published on the website of the <u>First-tier Tribunal</u> (Special Educational Needs and Disability).

Disability Discrimination

Independent schools, like all schools in England, are subject to the <u>Equality</u> <u>Act 2010</u> and its provisions relevant to schools.

Independent schools must not, for example, have admissions arrangements that would exclude a pupil on disability grounds. Some independent schools have academically selective admissions arrangements. The Equality and Human Rights Commission's <u>Technical Guidance for Schools in England</u> on equalities law states:

A school that is using a permitted form of selection is not discriminating by applying this form of selection to disabled children who apply for admission, provided that it complies with its duty to make reasonable adjustments for disabled applicants during the assessment process.¹³

Independent schools are also subject to the relevant provisions requiring for reasonable adjustments to be made for disabled pupils to be able to access services. They are not prohibited from excluding pupils with disabilities, but the exclusion cannot be because of their disability or from discriminating during the exclusions process.

¹⁰ Department for Education, <u>Special Educational Needs and Disability Code of Practice: 0 to 25 years</u>, January 2015, para 9.84

¹¹ Department for Education, <u>SEND Code of Practice</u>, para 9.131

¹² Department for Education, <u>SEND Code of Practice</u>, p259

¹³ Equality and Human Rights Commission, <u>Technical Guidance for Schools in England</u>, July 2014, para 2.32

The Equality and Human Rights Commission's <u>Technical Guidance for Schools</u> in <u>England</u> on equalities law provides detail, including examples, on how independent schools must avoid disability discrimination. 7 Complaints

Regulation 33 of the <u>Education (Independent School Standards) Regulations</u> 2014 set out what independent schools must do to meet the standard regarding their complaints procedures. They apply to all independent schools. There are three stages involved, with complainants advancing through each stage if they are not satisfied with the outcome:

- An informal complaint
- A formal written complaint
- A panel hearing if the complainant is not satisfied.

The Department for Education has published information on the cases in which it can consider <u>complaints about private schools</u>, and also information about advice on complaints about private schools:

The Department for Education (DfE) cannot investigate individual complaints about private schools. But it has certain powers as a regulator if the school is not meeting standards set by DfE for:

- education
- pupil welfare and health and safety
- school premises
- staff suitability
- making information available to parents
- spiritual, moral, social or cultural development of students

DfE will consider any reports of a major failure to meet the standards. It can arrange an emergency inspection to look at pupil welfare and health and safety, and make sure serious failings are dealt with.

DfE can ask the school inspectorates to take minor complaints into account when the school is next inspected.

You can complain to the DfE by filling in the school complaints form.

The House of Commons Library is a research and information service based in the UK Parliament. Our impartial analysis, statistical research and resources help MPs and their staff scrutinise legislation, develop policy, and support constituents.

Our published material is available to everyone on commonslibrary.parliament.uk.

Get our latest research delivered straight to your inbox. Subscribe at commonslibrary.parliament.uk/subscribe or scan the code below:





🥑 @commonslibrary